THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

AUG 22 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Joe M. Crosby, Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2011-CP-22-0180  
Appellate Case No. 2013-001447

Kennedy Funding, Inc. as predecessor-in-interest, and BNP  
Paribas.....Respondents,

v.

Pawleys Island North, LLC, Will Darwin Wheeler, Peggy Wheeler-Cribb, and J. Mars  
Sapp, Defendants,  
Of whom Pawleys Island North, LLC, Will Darwin Wheeler and Peggy Wheeler-Cribb are  
Respondents and

J. Mars Sapp is the .....Appellant.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Thomas W. Bunch, II  
Paul H. Hofer

## I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

A. Should the transfer of property valued at \$1,920,000.00 for “the sum of FIVE AND NO/100 DOLLARS (\$5.00) and no other consideration to the Grantor” to a limited liability company in which the grantor held a 99% membership interest, be set aside as a fraudulent conveyance where the grantor was indebted to a creditor at the time of the transfer, the conveyance was voluntary, and the grantor failed to retain sufficient property to pay his indebtedness to the creditor?

1. Even if there was no actual intent to defraud the creditor, was the conveyance fraudulent when it was without consideration?
2. If the consideration for the transfer is deemed grossly inadequate, instead of being completely without consideration, did the grantor overcome the rebuttable presumption of fraud arising from the transfer when he failed to offer any testimony as to the *bona fides* of the transfer?
3. Even if there was consideration for the transfer, was the conveyance fraudulent where it was made by the grantor with actual intent to defraud the creditor and the intent is imputable to the grantee in which the grantor held a 99% membership interest?

B. Where a mortgage is given on property by a fraudulent grantee to a subsequent creditor who has notice of the fraud, should the mortgage be void as to an existing creditor of the fraudulent grantor?

C. Where a fraudulent grantee creates new debt and gives a lender a mortgage for inadequate consideration when compared to the value of property value, and the lender is on notice of the fraudulent conveyance, should the mortgage be set aside as fraudulent conveyance, or declared subordinate to a creditor of the fraudulent grantor?

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced by Respondent Kennedy Funding, Inc. (“Kennedy”) on February 9, 2011 by the filing of a Summons and Complaint in Georgetown County. Kennedy sought to foreclose a mortgage given by Respondent Pawleys Island North, LLC (“Pawleys”) on two parcels of property (Lots 3 and 4) (collectively “the Property”); sought to collect on loan guarantees given by Respondents Will Darwin Wheeler (“Wheeler”) and Peggy Wheeler-Cribb (“Wheeler-Cribb”) (collectively “Guarantors”); and sought a determination whether Appellant J. Mars Sapp’s (“Sapp”) judgment lien against Wheeler was prior to the mortgage lien of Kennedy.<sup>1</sup> (Complaint) Sapp answered the Complaint and alleged that he claimed an interest in the property subject to the foreclosure action and that his judgment lien and interest in the Property was superior to Kennedy’s mortgage lien. (Answer)

By Order filed March 22, 2012, the case was referred to the Honorable Joe M. Cosby, Master-in-Equity for Georgetown County (“the Master”), with finality and any appeal to be taken to the South Carolina Supreme Court or Court of Appeals, as appropriate. (Order of Reference)

By motion filed October 3, 2011, Kennedy moved for summary judgment seeking to dismiss Sapp’s claim of an interest in the Property or to declare Sapp’s lien junior and subordinate to Kennedy’s lien. (Motion for Summary Judgment) By agreement of the parties, the Master heard the motion on January 17, 2012. He granted, in part, Kennedy’s motion by Order filed March 5, 2012 when he declared Sapp’s lien, if any, junior and subordinate to Kennedy’s lien. (Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Defendant J.

---

<sup>1</sup> In a separate civil action, Sapp had sued Wheeler in 2008 and secured a verdict on June 4, 2010 in the amount of \$252,798.00 to which the trial judge added \$48,929.00 in legal fees for a total judgment in the principal amount of \$301,727.00. On appeal by Wheeler, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed. *Sapp v. Wheeler*, 402 S.C. 502, 741 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 2013).

Mars Sapp) On March 8, 2012, Sapp moved for the Master to reconsider the order granting Kennedy Funding summary judgment as to Sapp. (Defendant Sapp's Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment) The Master heard oral argument on Sapp's motion on August 13, 2012, but issued no ruling until he denied the motion from the bench at the trial of the case on February 11, 2013, with the denial to be reduced to a detailed order to be issued by the court. (Tr. Transcript, p. 8, l. 13 – p. 10, l.7)

On September 5, 2012, Kennedy filed an Amended Summons and Complaint adding BNP Paribas ("BNP") as a Plaintiff alleging that Kennedy assigned its rights to BNP. (Amended Complaint) Sapp answered the Amended Complaint on September 20, 2013. Sapp continued to deny Plaintiffs' alleged priority as the court had not ruled on his Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, and he alleged that Plaintiffs had unclean hands. Sapp further asserted by way of cross-claim that the conveyance of the Property by Wheeler to Pawleys was a fraudulent conveyance under the Statute of Elizabeth (S.C. Code Ann 27-23-10(A) (2007)), that Plaintiffs, Pawleys, and the Guarantors condoned and participated in the transfer of the Property, that the conveyance to Pawleys was void, and that if the conveyance of the Property was not completely void, it was void as to Lot 3 which was unencumbered at the time of the transfer from Wheeler to Pawleys. (Answer to Amended Complaint and Crossclaim of J. Mars Sapp) Plaintiffs replied to the Cross-claim and the remaining Respondents Answered the Cross-claim, all denying that the conveyance of the Property was fraudulent and setting up various affirmative defenses. (Plaintiff's Reply, Answer of Pawleys, and Answer of Wheeler and Wheeler-Cribb)

On February 11, 2013 the Master conducted a non-jury trial. Once the Master denied Sapp's Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, the only issues remaining for trial were for Kennedy to establish its allegations for foreclosure of the mortgage, and for Sapp to prove his

Cross-claim against Pawleys, Wheeler and Wheeler-Cribb. Kennedy presented one witness who testified as to Kennedy's damages. By agreement of the parties, Kennedy also presented two deposition transcripts with exhibits. These were SCRCP Rule 30(b)(6) depositions of Kennedy's CEO and President. Sapp also testified. Pawleys, Wheeler, and Wheeler-Cribb elected not to testify, not to call any witnesses and not to present any evidence. At the close of the testimony by Plaintiffs and Sapp, Sapp moved for a directed verdict. By Order filed June 7, 2013, the Master found the Plaintiffs' mortgage to be first lien on the Property, ordered that the Property be sold at a judicial sale, and ordered that the Plaintiffs were owed \$1,825,935.33 as of April 10, 2012. The Master further found that the conveyance of the Property by Wheeler to Pawleys was not fraudulent. (Order and Judgment)

Counsel for Sapp received the filed June 7 Order and Judgment sometime after June 10, 2013, and filed Sapp's Notice of Appeal on June 27, 2013 appealing the Order Granting Summary Judgment dated February 14, 2012 and the Order and Judgment entered June 7, 2013. He also filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on July 10, 2013 clarifying that Pawleys, Wheeler and Wheeler-Cribb were also respondents in the appeal. (Notice of Appeal and Amended Notice of Appeal)

### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **a. Wheeler's Transfer of the Property during Litigation.**

Appellant Sapp sued Respondent Wheeler in September 2008 alleging over \$500,000 in damages for breach of a commercial lease guaranty (the "Sapp/Wheeler Litigation"). At that time, Wheeler was the sole owner in fee simple of two parcels of property on Pawley's Island, known as lots 3 and 4 (previously referred to collectively as the "Property"), which are the subject of Kennedy's foreclosure action. Lot 3 was unencumbered. Lot 4 was subject to a

\$300,000.00 mortgage to First South Bank.<sup>2</sup> While the Sapp/Wheeler Litigation was pending, by quitclaim deed dated April 28, 2009, Wheeler transferred lots 3 and 4 to Pawleys for “FIVE AND 00/100 DOLLARS (\$5.00) and no other consideration.” Wheeler had a 99% interest in Pawleys and his mother (Wheeler-Cribb) had the remaining 1% interest. The Sapp/Wheeler litigation was tried before a jury in June, 2010 in Georgetown County resulting in a verdict in favor of Sapp and against Wheeler in the amount of \$252,798.00 to which the trial judge added \$48,929.00 in legal fees for a total judgment of \$301,727.00. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the verdict and judgment. *Sapp v. Wheeler*, 402 S.C. 502, 741 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 2013).

**b. Kennedy’s Knowledge and Participation.**

Two days after the conveyance of lots 3 and 4 “for FIVE AND 00/100 DOLLARS (\$5.00) and no other consideration,” Kennedy made a loan to Pawleys and took a mortgage on lots 3 and 4. (Sapp Trial Ex. 1; Wolfer Depo and Kennedy Trial Exhibit 1) Prior to this loan, Kennedy had no lending relationship with Pawleys, Wheeler and Wheeler-Cribb. (Wolfer depo, p. 14, ll. 5-10) At the time of Kennedy’s loan to Pawleys, the unencumbered lot 3 had an “As Is Market Value” value of \$1,040,000 and lot 4, encumbered only with a \$300,000.00 mortgage, had an “As Is Market Value” of \$880,000. (Wolfer Depo and Kennedy Trial Ex. 2) Prior to the conveyance of the Property and prior to closing the loan, Kennedy knew of Sapp’s pending suit against Wheeler. (Wolfer Depo and Kennedy Trial Ex. 1; Kennedy Bates Nos. 1415; Wolfer depo and Kennedy Trial Exs. 4 and 5) Kennedy knew that Wheeler owned the Property solely in his name. (Wolfer Depo and Kennedy Trial Ex. 2) Kennedy knew that Wheeler was a 99% owner of Pawleys. (Wolfer Depo, p. 22, l.6 – p. 24, l.9; and Wolfer depo and Kennedy Trial Ex.

---

<sup>2</sup> Wheeler also owned lots 1 and 2 in the same “subdivision” and these lots were subject to another mortgage. (Trial Tr., p. 37, l. 21 – p. 38, l. 7.)

1) Kennedy took its mortgage on Property which appraised for \$1,920,000.00, and was quitclaimed by Wheeler to Pawleys “for FIVE AND 00/100 DOLLARS (5.00) and no other consideration.” Kennedy knew that Wheeler had no income with which to repay the loan, and it was solely looking to the value of the Property for payment of the loan. (Wolfer Depo, p. 27, ll. 17-24) However, worried about the litigation and its impact on the loan, twice Kennedy’s counsel asked Wheeler’s counsel for an explanation of the litigation - which never came. (Wolfer depo, p. 38) Regardless of Kennedy’s failure to secure a response, Kennedy was on notice of Wheeler’s existing indebtedness to Sapp which resulted in Sapp’s judgment lien. Ultimately, Kennedy decided a possible fraudulent conveyance did not matter as long as it obtained a title opinion on the lots and title insurance. (Wolfer Depo, p. 35) Kennedy was a knowing participant in the fraudulent conveyance. It was complicit in the transaction.

**c. The Kennedy Loan.**

The amount of the purported loan from Kennedy to Pawleys was \$960,000, which was 50% of the estimated value of lots 3 and 4; however, an examination of the closing statement shows that Kennedy Funding advanced substantially less than \$960,000 to Pawleys. Kennedy retained \$185,200.00 of the loan proceeds for a commitment fee (\$70,000) and prepaid interest (\$115,200; no payments were required for the first year of the loan). Thus, of the purported \$960,000.00 loan, Kennedy loaned only \$774,800, or 40% of the value of the lots quitclaimed by Wheeler. Further, significant amounts were paid to Kennedy’s counsel, borrower’s counsel, appraisers, etc. After the accounting entry to pay itself, and after paying associated closing costs, the borrower (Pawleys) netted \$397,438.50 and it repaid the \$300,000.00 First South loan. Wheeler and Wheeler-Cribb unconditionally guaranteed the Kennedy loan as “a primary obligation.” As a result, Wheeler obtained no benefit for the transfer; he incurred additional

liability over and above his existing \$300,000.00 debt; and he mortgaged both lots including the unencumbered lot 3 which had a value of \$1,040,000.00. Kennedy's loan is accruing interest at 25% per annum, and the Master awarded Kennedy attorney's fees of \$100,000.00 against Pawleys and the guarantors even though they did not contest the foreclosure and even though Kennedy presented no evidence of its legal fees. Thus, from a \$774,800 loan funded in May, 2009, Kennedy asserted, and the Master ordered that Kennedy was owed \$1,825,935.33 as of April 10, 2012, plus interest at 25% per annum thereafter.

**d. The *Nulla Bona Return*.**

In April 2011, The Georgetown County Sherriff returned a *nulla bona* execution on Sapp's judgment against Wheeler. Sapp testified that, as a result of Wheeler's transfer to Pawleys, he was unable find any assets held by Wheeler from which his judgment could be satisfied.

**IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

An action to establish lien priorities regarding property that is subject to a mortgage is an action in equity, as is an action to foreclose a mortgage. The appellate court's standard of review in equitable matters is its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Independence National Bank v. Buncombe Professional Park, LLC*, 402 S.C. 514, 741 S.E.2d 572 (Ct. App. 2013). Likewise, an action to set aside a conveyance under the Statute of Elizabeth is an equitable action, and a *de novo* standard of review applies. *Oskin v. Johnson*, 400 S.C. 390, 735 S.E.2d 459 (2012). "[T]he appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence." *Id.*, 400 S.C. at 397, 735 S.E.2d at 463. *Oskin* further states the oft-cited principle that an appellate court is not required to disregard the findings of the trial Court who is in a better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses.

However, in the case before this court, the only witnesses who testified before the Master were Kennedy's damages' witness and Sapp, and the Master made no credibility judgments as to either.

## V. ARGUMENT

**A. The transfer of property valued at \$1,920,000.00 for "the sum of FIVE AND NO/100 DOLLARS and no other consideration to the Grantor" to a limited liability company (Pawleys) in which the grantor Wheeler held a 99% membership interest, must be set aside as a fraudulent conveyance where the grantor Wheeler was indebted to the creditor Sapp at the time of the transfer, the conveyance was voluntary, and Wheeler failed to retain sufficient property to pay his indebtedness to Sapp.**

The Statute of Elizabeth declares:

Every gift, grant, alienation, bargain, transfer, and conveyance of lands, tenements, or hereditaments, goods and chattels or any of them, or of any lease, rent, commons, or other profit or charge out of the same, by writing or otherwise, and every bond, suit, judgment, and execution which may be had or made to or for any intent or purpose to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors and others of their just and lawful actions, suits, debts, accounts, damages, penalties, and forfeitures must be deemed and taken (only as against that person or persons, his or their heirs, successors, executors, administrators and assigns, and every one of them whose actions, suits, debts, accounts, damages, penalties, and forfeitures by guileful, covinous, or fraudulent devices and practices are, must, or might be in any ways disturbed, hindered, delayed, or defrauded) to be clearly and utterly void, frustrate and of no effect, any pretense, color, feigned consideration, expressing of use, or any other matter or thing to the contrary notwithstanding.

S.C. Code Ann. § 27-23-10(A) (2007).

Conveyances shall be set aside as fraudulent under the Statute of Elizabeth under two conditions:

First, where the transfer is made with the actual intent of defrauding his creditors where the intent is imputable to the grantee, even though there is a valuable consideration; and, second, where a transfer is made without actual intent to defraud the grantor's creditors, but without consideration.

*Coleman v. Daniel*, 261 S.C. 198, 208, 199 S.E.2d 74, 79 (1973).

Wheeler's transfer of the Property to Pawleys fails under both conditions. This transfer is void and the Property is subject to Sapp's judgment against Wheeler.

In *Coleman*, the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed a referee and circuit court judge who had found that a transfer of property was not fraudulent and, therefore, refused to order the sale of property in satisfaction of a judgment creditor's liens. The facts of *Coleman* are almost exactly the same as the facts in this appeal with one striking difference which makes Wheeler's conveyance even more fraudulent. The facts of *Coleman* are compared with the case before this court in the table below:

<i>Coleman</i> Facts:	Sapp Facts:
1. Sometime prior to October 26, 1964 (the date of the conveyance under attack), Linzie Rogers executed notes in favor of Coleman and became indebted to Coleman.	Sometime prior to May 5, 2009 (the date of the conveyance under attack), Wheeler guaranteed the real property lease payments of a business to Sapp and became indebted to Sapp.
2. On October 26, 1964, Rogers made an intra-family transfer of property to his daughter Annie Daniel and her husband (the Daniels).	On May 5, 2009 Wheeler made an intra-family transfer of the Property to Pawleys, a limited liability company in which he and his mother held 100% of the membership interest.
3. The deed recited consideration of "\$5, love and affection, and subject to the lien of a mortgage held by Lake City Building & Loan Association" which was \$29,000.	The deed recited consideration as "the sum of FIVE AND NO/100 DOLLARS (\$5.00) and no other consideration to the Grantor." At the time of the transfer, lot 4 of the Property was subject to a \$300,000.00 mortgage in favor of First South Bank. Lot 3 was unencumbered.
4. The Daniels contended there was an additional \$20,000 in consideration for the transfer. The Court concluded that the maximum consideration was \$49,000 (the \$29,000 mortgage plus the \$20,000 alleged additional consideration).	Wheeler did not testify at trial and has never contended that he received any consideration, much less additional consideration for the transfer.
5. Daniels did not assume payment of the Lake City mortgage; however, they secured a loan from another financial institution for \$32,000 and paid the Lake City Building & Loan mortgage.	Pawleys did not assume payment of the First South Bank mortgage; however, it secured a loan from Kennedy receiving \$697,438.50 of which it paid \$300,000.00 to First South Bank.
6. The Daniels were solely liable for the payment of the Lake City Building & Loan debt. Rogers had no liability.	Notably different from the <i>Coleman</i> case is that Wheeler executed a personal guaranty of the Kennedy loan to Pawleys. The guaranty describes Wheeler's obligation as "a primary obligation" and as "a continuing inexhaustible guaranty." Thus, Wheeler remained fully

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