THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Joe M. Crosby, Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2011-CP-22-0180
Appellate Case No. 2013-001447

Kennedy Funding, Inc. as predecessor-in-interest, and Respondents,
BNP Paribas,

v.

Pawleys Island North, LLC, Will Darwin Wheeler,
Peggy Wheeler-Cribb, and J. Mars Sapp, Defendants,
Of Whom Pawleys Island North, LLC, Will Darwin
Wheeler and Peggy Wheeler-Cribb are Respondents, and

J. Mars Sapp is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Robert H. Jordan (SC Bar No. 13612)
Merritt G. Abney (SC Bar No. 71893)
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE KENNEDY MORTGAGE TRANSACTION DID NOT VIOLATE THE STATUTE OF ELIZABETH

Appellant asserts that the mortgage transaction between Pawleys and Kennedy should be set aside because the transaction was not supported by valid consideration or, even if there was valid consideration, that Pawleys and Kennedy intended to defraud Appellant. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 8). First, the mortgage was supported by a \$960,000 loan to Pawleys, which is valid consideration under any construction of the transaction. Second, Appellant failed to present any evidence, much less clear and convincing evidence, that Kennedy knowingly participated in a fraudulent act.

A. The Mortgage was Given to Kennedy in Exchange for Valuable Consideration

Appellant attempts to attack the mortgage transaction between Pawleys and Kennedy on the grounds of grossly inadequate consideration. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 14). In doing so, Appellant bases his argument on the assumption that the mortgage was actually a conveyance of the Property from Pawleys to Kennedy for 50% of the Property's

value and was, therefore, inadequate. *Id.* It is undisputed, however, that Pawleys did not sell and convey the land to Kennedy; rather it simply borrowed money from Kennedy collateralized by the Property. This transaction cannot be set aside under the Statute of Elizabeth because no conveyance occurred. The conveyance that transferred the Property was an October 7, 2013 non-voluntary conveyance from the Master to the winning bidder after judicial sale.³ (Master's Report on Sale, Order of Disbursement Pursuant to Rule 71 (Public Sale), Order Confirming Closing Case, October 7, 2013 and Master's Foreclosure Deed; R. pp. 803-807). This conveyance from the Master via foreclosure deed is not fraudulent. Kennedy did not buy the Property for 50% of its value, it loaned \$960,000 and has not been repaid. (Kevin Wolfer Depo. Tr. 27:1-7; R. p. 192, lines 1-7). There is clearly consideration to support this mortgage transaction.

Appellant relies on *Coleman v. Daniel*, 261 S.C. 198 (1973), for the apparent proposition that anything below a 58% loan to value ratio is *per se* inadequate consideration to support a mortgage. This is a ludicrous reading of *Coleman* as such an interpretation would wipe out a significant percentage of the mortgages in South Carolina. By conflating a mortgage transaction with a sales transaction, Appellant presents an absurd argument that would eliminate cash-out, home equity, second mortgage and most primary mortgage lending in South Carolina, because no prudent lender ever loans 100% of the value of the collateral.

In *Coleman*, the debtor was proven to be insolvent when he transferred virtually his entire estate to his daughter and son-in-law for roughly 58% of the appraised value.⁴ 261 S.C. at 204. The transfer included the property where the debtor had lived his entire life

³ The Master signed a Master's Deed on October 7, 2013 but the deed has not yet been recorded.

⁴ There is considerable discussion in the opinion about the true value of the property and consideration actually paid as the daughter and son-in-law cited past and future support of their father as consideration.

and a separate agreement the debtor made with his daughter to continue living on the property rent free. 261 S.C. at 203. The property was, in essence, being held in the daughter and son-in-law's name for their father's perpetual use. Under these facts, the Court found the daughter and son-in-law's failure to inquire as to their father's indebtedness to plaintiff Coleman resulted in the knowledge of the debt imputed to them and voided the transfer as a fraudulent conveyance. 261 S.C. at 211.

This case does not involve any of the key facts which supported a fraudulent conveyance finding in *Coleman*. First, this was an arms-length loan transaction between a lender based in New Jersey and a South Carolina limited liability company with no prior relationship. (Kevin Wolfer Depo. Tr. 13:22-25, 14:1-10; R. p. 178, line 22-p.179, line 10). Second, no property was sold or transferred to Kennedy. Third, the borrower was not insolvent when the loan was executed but retained over \$1.3 million in cash and equity from this transaction alone. Fourth, the borrower was not living on the Property when the transaction closed. (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 1, R. p. 225). Finally, the borrower did not retain, via secret agreement, perpetual use of the Property rent free. The only reasonable conclusion to draw from the amount Kennedy loaned is that it was a conservative and prudent lender. Sapp's argument that a 50% loan to value ratio was grossly inadequate is not supported by *Coleman* or any other South Carolina case.

Sapp also relies on *South Carolina National Bank v. Halter*, 293 S.C. 121 (Ct. App. 1987), in support of his argument that Kennedy participated in a fraud. Like in *Coleman*, *Halter* involved a fraudulent conveyance among family members. 293 S.C. at 123. In *Halter*, Caine, the debtor, deceased at the time the case was decided, transferred certain rental properties to an alimony trust that was managed by his son-in-law, Halter, as trustee.

293 S.C. at 131-32. However, the trust was never operated separately and distinctly from Caine's other business affairs and Halter routinely failed to make the alimony payments the trust was established to make. 293 S.C. at 132. Finally, upon the death of Caine's ex-wife, the rental properties were to be transferred to a company owned by Halter and his wife, who was Caine's daughter. 293 S.C. at 131-32. The court found that the only reason to make the company the residuary beneficiary was Caine's desire to bestow upon his daughter and son-in-law an invaluable residual asset. 293 S.C. at 132. Under these facts, which clearly evidenced the debtor's intent to shelter property from his creditors, the Court voided the transfer from Caine to the trustee. 293 S.C. at 133.

More applicable to this case than the trust issue, however, was the issue in *Halter* involving a separate transaction the Court called the "Franklin Hotel Mortgage" transaction. This transaction involved Halter loaning or advancing \$35,000 to his father-in-law, Caine, in exchange for a note and mortgage on a hotel property. *Id.* Halter wore the hat of "mortgagee" in this transaction which the Court noted in stating

[t]o annul the instant mortgage, which is supported by valuable consideration, it must be shown not only that Caine intended to hinder, delay or defraud his creditors, but also that **Halter [mortgagee] participated in the fraud.**

Id. (emphasis added). The Court upheld this mortgage transaction, in part, because the Plaintiff failed to plead or prove fraud against Halter as mortgagee. See, *Halter*, 293 S.C. at 133, fn. 5 ("Technically, we need go no further since [the creditor] failed to plead actual fraud on [grantor]'s part and participation in the fraud by [grantee]"). Sapp likewise failed to plead or prove a fraud or a fraudulent conveyance claim against Kennedy or BNP which is an independent ground to affirm the Master's Order. The Court further upheld the mortgage because it found \$35,000 was valid consideration to support the mortgage and

there was not sufficient proof that Halter had participated in a fraud even though he was loaning money to his father-in-law and obtaining a lien position senior to other creditors. 293 S.C. at 134. The Kennedy mortgage should be affirmed under the *Halter* holding because \$960,000 is inarguably valid consideration to support a mortgage interest for the same amount and Sapp has not presented any evidence that Kennedy participated in a fraud. There is no evidence that the Kennedy loan and mortgage were a sham or anything other than a bona fide arms length transaction.

B. Kennedy Had No Notice of Any Fraudulent Activity

Sapp argues in his brief that Kennedy had notice of fraudulent activity on the part of Wheeler and Pawleys, and, as a result, contends that the mortgage transaction between Pawleys and Kennedy should be set aside. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 23-24). In support of his argument, Sapp points to a pre-closing lawsuit search in which the Sapp litigation was found and one email from Kennedy's counsel to Pawleys' counsel inquiring about the Sapp litigation. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 24). Sapp has presented no other evidence to support his argument that Kennedy knowingly participated in a fraud.

Sapp fails to mention that, as a condition to closing, Kennedy required Wheeler and his counsel to affirm in writing that (1) there were no suits pending or threatened against Wheeler which would impair his ability to perform under the Guaranty or other obligations; (2) no suits which would adversely impact the Property and (3) Wheeler was paying all his debt obligations as they became due. (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 1, April 30, 2009 Letter at Kennedy_01394-01398 and Guaranty at Kennedy_01267-1277; R. pp 485-489 and pp. 358-368). In addition to this evidence, the only testimony presented on the issue of Kennedy's knowledge of Wheeler's intention, or fraud for that matter, was

Kevin Wolfer's testimony that Kennedy never had any discussion with Wheeler, Wheeler-Cribb or anyone on behalf of Pawleys indicating that the transfer of the Property to Pawleys would render Wheeler insolvent or impair his ability to satisfy a Sapp judgment in the future. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 24). In sum, Kennedy acted reasonably and prudently in making the Pawleys loan and there is no evidence it knowingly participated in a fraud or had knowledge of a fraud.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Kennedy had a duty to investigate the Sapp litigation beyond everything it did as recited herein, and assuming Kennedy had predicted the future and determined the Sapp litigation would result in a verdict against Wheeler for \$301,727; at the time of closing, Kennedy knew Pawleys, and Wheeler through his 99% interest, would receive \$397,438.50 in cash at closing and retain \$960,000 in equity in the Property for a total amount of \$1,357,438.50 from the Property alone. (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 1, Loan Closing Statement at Kennedy_1138-1140; R. p. 228-230). Nothing about this transaction would cause a reasonable lender to be concerned that Wheeler could not satisfy a \$304,727 verdict or was engaging in fraud. Moreover, and as set forth below in Section III, Kennedy had no reason to participate in or condone a fraud because its lien position, whether it loaned to Pawleys or Wheeler, would always be superior to Sapp's later-filed judgment lien.

All of the cases Sapp cites in support of his contention that Kennedy had notice of the fraud are easily distinguishable. Although *Rilling v. Texas* is a 1902 Texas case and not binding precedent on this Court, that case involved a father and son conspiring to keep property out of the hands of the son's ex-wife by transferring it to an individual who knew the circumstances of the divorce. 95 Tex. 352, 67 S.W. 401 (1902). Similarly, *Messervy v.*

Barelli, involved a conveyance from a mother to a man supposedly engaged to her daughter and with whom the mother was on "intimate terms of friendship."⁵ 11 S.C. Eq. (2 Hill Eq.) 576 (1837). In those cases, there was undoubtedly a close personal relationship between the parties prior to the mortgage. *Brunson v. Sports* is not applicable here because it entailed the creation of a resulting trust in favor of a decedent's heirs where the administrator of an estate took property in her own name as payment for a debt that was owed to the estate. 239 S.C. 58, 121 S.E.2d 294 (1961). *Brunson* was actually decided on trust law and adverse possession grounds, not the Statute of Elizabeth, and is plainly not applicable to this case.

Ultimately, Sapp would have this Court treat the conveyance of a mortgage interest in the Property from Pawleys to Kennedy as a sham transaction similar to a conveyance between close personal friends or family to avoid a creditor. There was simply nothing about Wheeler's transfer of the Property to a limited liability company which would have put a prudent lender on notice that Wheeler was engaging in a fraud given that Wheeler's interest in the limited liability company alone was sufficient to satisfy Sapp's claim.

II. THE TRANSFER FROM WHEELER TO PAWLEYS WAS NOT A FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCE

Appellant asserts that an intra-family transfer of the Property from Wheeler to Pawleys shifts the burden of proof to Pawleys to prove the *bona fides* of the transaction. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 15). The transfer, however, was not "intra-family" and the burden remains on Appellant to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a fraudulent conveyance occurred. Regarding the actual conveyance, it was supported by valuable

⁵ "To [mortgagor's] mother...he familiarly applied the epithet of 'mother,' to her sisters, that of 'sister,' and to her aunts, that of 'aunt;' and was a constant visitor at the house, and took all liberties he would have done if he had been a member of the family..."

consideration, and Appellant has failed to prove Wheeler intended to defraud him and that Kennedy participated in the fraud.

A. The Transfer from Wheeler to Pawleys was not an Intra-Family Transfer, and the Burden of Proof Remains on Appellant to Prove by Clear and Convincing Evidence that the Conveyance was Fraudulent

Appellant claims that the transfer between Wheeler and Pawleys was an intra-family transfer, shifting the burden of proof from the Appellant to the Respondent. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 15).⁶ "Intra-family" is not a defined term under South Carolina case law. Cases do, however, provide an illustration of how South Carolina courts have applied the term. *See Coleman* (transfer of property from father to daughter and son-in-law, *Halter* (transfer of property to son), *Messervy* (transfer of property to an intimate family friend). The transfer at issue here, however, is a transfer from an individual (Wheeler) to a corporation (Pawleys). The South Carolina Limited Liability Company Act provides "[a] member is not a co-owner of, and has no transferable interest in, property of a limited liability company." S.C. Code § 33-44-501. Sapp seems to contend that Wheeler transferred the Property to Wheeler-Cribb, his mother, because she had a 1% membership interest in Pawleys. This argument fails under § 33-44-501 because Wheeler-Cribb obtained no transferable interest in the Property.

Perhaps knowing he could not prove a transfer from Wheeler to Wheeler-Cribb, Sapp next argues under *Windsor Properties, Inc.* that the corporate entity can be disregarded. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 15). In *Windsor.*, the Court found a transfer from a corporation wholly-owned by a husband to a wife was "intra-family" citing the wife's

⁶ See, *Coleman*, 261 S.C. at 208 ("Where transfers to members of the family are attacked either upon the ground of actual fraud or on account of their voluntary character, the law imposes the burden on the transferee to establish both a valuable consideration and the bona fides of the transaction by clear and convincing evidence.").

testimony that the corporation and husband to her "were one in the same." 331 S.C. 466, at FN 4. If Pawleys' corporate veil is to be disregarded in this case – even though Sapp did not plead or prove veil piercing at trial – the Wheeler transfer to Pawleys was nothing more than a transfer from Wheeler to himself as he owned 99% of the company. By any definition, this cannot amount to an "intra-family" transfer and the burden remains on Sapp to prove by clear and convincing evidence that either of two situations occurred – either Wheeler intended to defraud Sapp or the conveyance was not supported by consideration.

B. Wheeler Did not Transfer the Property to Pawleys with the Actual Intent to Defraud Sapp

In order to set aside a conveyance on the basis that the grantor intended to defraud its creditor, the creditor must prove that, "(1) the transfer was made by the grantor with the actual intent of defrauding his creditors; (2) the grantor was indebted at the time of the transfer; and (3) the grantor's intent is imputable to the grantee." *Durham v. Blackard*, 313 S.C. 432, 437–38, 438 S.E.2d 259, 262 (Ct.App.1993) (citing *Coleman*, 261 S.C. at 208, 199 S.E.2d at 79).

Sapp did not depose Wheeler, call him as a witness or present any direct evidence that Wheeler intended to defraud Sapp. (Trial Tr. 25:3-6; R. p. 712, lines 3-6). The only evidence before the Court as to Wheeler's intent was his Answer to Sapp's cross-claim in which Wheeler denied intending to defraud Sapp. (Answer of Pawleys, Wheeler, and Wheeler-Crib's Cross-Claim of Sapp, ¶ 5; R. p. 124). Sapp must, therefore, rely on circumstantial evidence to overcome Wheeler's direct denial.

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